STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG 09 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

Opinion No. 2013-UP-147 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 4/10/2013)

09-GS-40-6690-91, 6696, 6689.

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY HACKSHAW,

PETITIONER

Appellate Case No. 2013-001372

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's erroneous admission of a statement given to police by a witness who refused to testify at Petitioner's trial in violation of Petitioner's right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Richland County grand jury for murder, two counts of assault with intent to kill (AWIK), and use of a firearm during commission of a violent crime during its September 2009 term. R. 1663-1670. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable James R. Barber, III, on October 21, 2010, and October 25 - November 1, 2010. He was represented by Tara Dawn Shurling and Jeremy Thompson. The state was represented by Kathryn "Luck" Campbell, Joanna McDuffie, and Nicole Simpson. R. 1. He was convicted of all counts and sentenced to forty-two years' imprisonment for murder; fifteen years' imprisonment on each count of AWIK, and five years' imprisonment for the weapons charge. Judge Barber ordered the sentences to run concurrently. R. 1619, line 7 – 1620, line 11; R. 1645, line 16 – R. 1646, line 10.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Elizabeth Franklin-Best represented Petitioner initially by filing a timely initial brief of appellant and designation of matter. Susan Barber Hackett assumed representation of Petitioner when Franklin-Best resigned from the Office of Appellate Defense. Brendan McDonald represented the state. The matter proceeded to oral argument before the Court of Appeals on March 4, 2013. On April 10, 2013, a three-judge panel affirmed Petitioner's convictions. App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on April 25, 2013. App. 4-9. Upon request of the Court of Appeals, the state filed a return on April 29, 2013. App. 10-24. On May 23, 2013, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 25.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's erroneous admission of a statement given to police by a witness who refused to testify at trial in violation of Petitioner's right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

### Relevant facts

Law enforcement was dispatched to the home of Ellison Hudson around 1:00 p.m. on May 20, 2009. R. 160, ll. 13-16. When law enforcement arrived, Cleveland Joyner, Ellison Hudson, and the decedent were present. R. 161, ll. 1-4. Officer Brian Carroll of the Columbia Police Department spoke briefly with Hudson and Joyner at the scene. He was informed that the decedent's assailants were two males, one "in black clothing" and "black hat," "5'10," and "190 pounds." R. 167, ll. 3- 23. Officer Carroll also heard there was a second assailant wearing a blue hoodie. R. 168, ll. 5-18. Hudson did not inform the officer that he knew either of the assailants. R. 169, ll. 11-14. A witness who had just returned home from school testified that she heard the gunshots, and observed two guys running. One of them had a gun. R. 181, ll. 2-24. She did not see their faces. R. 182, ll. 10-14.

At the time of these events, Joyner had known Hudson for approximately two years. They would "relax" and "smoke weed" together. R. 225, ll. 2-14. On this date, Joyner dropped his girlfriend off at work, and then headed to Hudson's house to smoke some weed. They were outside in the yard, and smoking their marijuana at a table in the middle of the yard. R. 227, l. 17- R. 230, l. 23. While they were enjoying their pot at the table, Fogle showed up at the house. Hudson was going to wash her car, and so she pulled her car into the backyard. R. 230, l. 24- R. 231, l. 25. Hudson had a gun on the backyard table. R. 232, ll. 5-16.

While they were in the backyard, they observed a silver Honda drive by. They then noticed the car drive by a second time. Hudson grabbed his gun and walked to the front yard. He walked back, and then started washing the car. They heard a car door close, and then Hudson yelled "Get the gun." R. 232, l. 21- R. 234, l. 17. Fogle was at the table; Hudson ran away. R. 234, ll. 18-25.

Joyner testified that he heard gunshots and then fell down. He saw someone in a blue hoodie run past him, chasing Hudson. He heard screaming and then more shots. He described the person in the blue hoodie as "tall and skinny." Joyner ran behind a shed with the gun in his hand. When he saw the person in the blue hoodie running down the other side of the street, he fired the gun at him. He ran after him, and saw the silver Honda drive down the road. R. 235, l. 7- R. 239, l. 25.

Joyner then took the shells out of the gun, and placed the gun under a couch in the house at the direction of Hudson. R. 241, ll. 12-22. The police arrived shortly thereafter, and Joyner told Hudson to get his (Hudson's) counterfeit money out of the house. R. 242, ll. 6-14. Joyner testified he never saw the shooter's face. R. 244, ll. 2-6. Joyner gave a statement to police recounting these events. R. 244, ll. 10-22. In this statement, he failed to inform the police that he had a gun. R. 253, ll. 3-23.

On June 3, Joyner gave another statement to the police. At that time, he gave them information about a purported "situation" between Hudson and Petitioner that was relayed to him by Hudson. R. 245, ll. 8-19. Joyner testified that he related a message to Hudson from Petitioner that "if he didn't give him his weed or his money that he was coming for his head." R. 246, ll. 17-23.

Ellison Hudson testified that he had the gun on the table because he "had had numerous people" shoot up his house. R. 287, ll. 2-7. He testified that someone had even shot at his house a week before this event, and while his father was standing outside. R. 289, ll. 1-5. During cross-

examination, Hudson admitted that his house had been shot up "maybe twice" before. R. 329, ll. 7-23. He testified that he "saw a tattoo" when the two men approached. R. 294, ll. 5-13. He later characterized this as a "little tattoo." R. 389, ll. 12-14. After the shooting, he called his father who worked at Best Buy on Two Notch Road. R. 302, ll. 9-18. Hudson testified that he got a good look at one of the shooters. R. 305, ll. 9-15.

Hudson testified that he lied to the police about the identity of the shooter. Asked why, he responded:

A: To be honest, I was scared, nervous at the same time. I wanted revenge, you know, because I just know it wasn't right.

Q: You wanted revenge on who?

A: That guy right there (pointing).

Q: So you blamed someone who had nothing to do with it?

A: Yeah. Yes, ma'am.

Q: And who did you pick to blame? How did you come up with him?

A: Just because previous incidents that I had with plenty of people shooting at my house. You know, once—I guess once people finds out where I stays at, then, you know, he had cahoots—he was a part of what was going on during the time, you know, but I was just mad, you know. Like I say, I just wanted revenge. I---

R. 305, l. 20- R. 306, l. 14.

In fact, Hudson told the police that he was "positive" that the shooter was Jonathan Bailey. R. 306, ll. 23-25. Hudson even described the tattoos on Bailey's arm to the police. R. 307, ll. 5-6. He testified that he had a "beef" with Bailey's "homie." "So, you know, there was people shooting at my house, you know, threatening, calling my phone or whatnot, snitch this, snitch that." R. 330, ll. 10-16. He testified that he told the police that Bailey would be after him because he had snitched

on one of his friends who shot up Hudson's mother's car. R. 331, l. 17- R. 335, l. 4; R. 346, l. 1- R. 347, l. 18.

When police spoke to Hudson again, on May 23, he told them that Petitioner was the shooter. R. 308, ll. 1-14. However, even before he named Petitioner as one of the shooters who killed Ebony Fogel, the police were asking Hudson about Petitioner. R. 338, l. 24- R. 339, l. 12. Hudson admitted he had "no problem lying to the police and blaming an innocent man." R. 336, ll. 3-5. He claimed that he "told the truth" because he was locked up at the detention center, and knew he would not be able to exact his revenge on Petitioner. He also claimed that a discussion with his grandfather inspired him to tell the truth. R. 348, l. 6- R. 350, l. 22. Hudson described an incident that happened earlier to the police. He told the police that he had stolen drugs from Petitioner approximately two or three weeks earlier, with a friend named "Hot Boy." He told them that they went to Petitioner's apartment to buy marijuana from him. Instead, Hudson pulled a gun on him and stole the marijuana. R. 310, l. 24- R. 318, l. 4. He claimed that he and Petitioner fired at one another at the apartment complex. R. 318, ll. 17-24. Then, on June 4, Hudson gave an additional statement to police in which he informed them that he was "90 to 95 percent" sure that Petitioner was the shooter. R. 412, l. 13- R. 413, l. 17.

At trial, the state called Torrian Gleaton to the stand. R. 757, l. 21. He was a critical witness for the state because according to a statement he gave to police, Petitioner made highly incriminating statements to him about the shooting. When he first took the stand, the state elicited from him that he had recently pled guilty in federal court to possession of a firearm by a felon, and that he had an outstanding warrant in Sumter County for unlawful possession of a weapon. He also had a conviction for possession of Ecstasy. R. 758, l. 17- R. 760, l. 9.

After he answered these preliminary questions about his record, the state then asked him whether he knew Ellison Hudson. At that point, he testified that he did not want to cooperate. R. 760, ll. 11-14. At least seven times, he stated that he did not want to cooperate. R. 760; ll. 15-18; R. 761, ll. 22-24; R. 762, ll. 3-4; ll. 9-11. The trial court judge then addressed Gleaton and informed him that he could be held in contempt. He asked if he wanted to consult with his lawyer, and he replied that he did. R. 763, ll. 5-16.

Gleaton's counsel arrived at the courthouse and spoke to him. Counsel informed the court:

MR. KIRKLAND: He maintains that the reason that he is not cooperating—unfortunately, he's not able to plead under—to say that it's a fifth amendment privilege against incriminating himself. He's only able to say that he fears for his safety and the safety of his family.

R. 814, l. 23- R. 815, l. 2. Counsel again reiterated that Gleaton was not going to cooperate at all. R. 836, ll. 11-22; R. 838, ll. 5-12. Throughout the discussion of whether Gleaton's statement to police would be admitted, Gleaton's counsel again reiterated that Gleaton claimed he did not wish to cooperate because it would endanger his life and the life of his family. R. 848, l. 23- R. 849, l. 9. Even when the judge ordered Gleaton to answer the questions posed, Gleaton's counsel informed that court "he does intend to defy your order." R. 835, line 22 – R. 836, line 10. Gleaton's counsel and Gleaton made clear that Gleaton was refusing to answer questions at all. R. 836, lines 14-22.

During the discussion of Gleaton's refusing to answer questions and the state's motion to admit his statement to police, the judge correctly noted "if he's refusing to answer, I don't know how that's subject to being cross-examined." R. 838, lines 21-23. The state argued it should be allowed to admit the statement, and that it was entitled to do so under State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434 (2009). R. 841, l. 6- R. 842, l. 14. Petitioner objected. R. 842, l. 16- R. 845, l. 7; R.

853, l. 19-25. The trial court judge ruled that the statement was admissible. R. 854, l. 1- 24. The court ruled that Stokes was controlling. R. 885, ll. 14-24.

When Gleaton was called to the stand again, and he refused to answer questions, the judge found Gleaton in direct contempt of his order for Gleaton to answer the questions asked of him. R. 848, ll. 12-20. Judge Barber sentenced Gleaton to six months' imprisonment, which he ordered to be served consecutive to Gleaton's federal sentence. R. 849, l. 21 – R. 850, l. 3.

Counsel again objected when the state called Investigator Walter Mahoney, of the CPD's Major Crimes Unit to read Gleaton's statement to the jury. R. 960, ll. 9-10; R. 963, ll. 12-14. The state elicited the following relevant testimony:

Q: "Torrian was saying that the next day Bump says to Torri that E. shot somebody in Greenview. Bump said they went to get E. and started spraying. And Torri—and Bump asked Torri did E. get shot, and Bump said that they shot somebody. They sprayed someone. They didn't know who they hit."

R. 966, ll. 21-25 ("Bump" is, supposedly, Petitioner's nickname).

The officers, according to Mahoney's reading of Gleaton's interview, asked for more detail about the shooting that Hudson's house. R. 968, ll. 2-4.

A: "That they sprayed somebody. They were going to look for E. and they were looking for E. and they sprayed."

Q: "That means they were looking for E. before they started shooting?"

A: "Oh, yeah."

Q: "And sprayed means shooting?"

A: "They were looking for E. the day he robbed him. All tell they were going to—all tell they were going to catch up with him."

Q: "All right."

A: "Every day."

Q: "So Bump has told you that they were looking for E. since E. robbed him?"

A: "In one of them phone calls he's asking me have I seen E-Dog."

Q: "Those—the phone calls that you're talking about, are they before Ebony Fogle was killed in E's back yard or after? Because it sounds like you're telling me two different things here."

A: "Before and after."

R. 968, ll. 5-25.

According to Mahoney's reading of Gleaton's interview, Gleaton told the police that Bump was going to "retaliate from the robbery." R. 969, ll. 10-25. He told them that Bump was out looking for him at night clubs. R. 972, ll. 12-24. After the shooting occurred, according to Mahoney's recitation of the interview, Bump then called Gleaton and asked if E. had been killed. R. 975, ll. 18- R. 976, l. 7.

The final interview lasted approximately thirty-six minutes, although the interrogation prior to the taking of the statement lasted over two hours. R. 1002, ll. 6-15. In fact, Investigator Reese of the CPD testified that it lasted more than 3 hours. R. 1106, ll. 10-11. During the interrogation, Investigator Reese used profanity, yelled, and slammed his fist down on the table. R. 1003, ll. 7-12. Gleaton told the officers that he was confusing what E. had told him, and what Bump had said to him about the incident. R. 1002, ll. 16-23; R. 1003, l. 13- 1004, l. 4. During the interrogation, Investigator Reese threatened to prosecute him:

Q: Let me rephrase the question. What he actually says is, "You realize you're making yourself an accessory to a murder." That's what he said, isn't it?

A: Yes, ma'am.

R. 1004, ll. 12-15. Reese also stated that he had no qualms putting Gleaton in jail if he did not keep talking to them. R. 1006, ll. 16-19.

Later, defense counsel attempted to call Torrian Gleaton to the stand. He testified that he was still unwilling to answer any of her questions. R. 1291, l. 17- R. 1292, l. 12.

### Discussion

The trial court judge erred by admitting Gleaton's statement because doing so violated Petitioner's right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him. Gleaton was not available for cross-examination because of his repeated refusals to cooperate with either the prosecution or defense.

The Confrontation Clause guarantees that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. Amend. VI. This right to confront and cross-examine witnesses "is essential to a fair trial in that it promotes reliability in criminal trials and insures that convictions will not result from testimony of individuals who cannot be challenged at trial." State v. Martin, 292 S.C. 437, 439, 357 S.E.2d 21, 22 (1987). The Confrontation Clause guarantees the opportunity for cross-examination. United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554 (1988). The opportunity for cross-examination has been deemed the "main and essential purpose of confrontation." Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 19-20 (1985). And see Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Cross-examination allows the accused the opportunity:

[N]ot only of testing the recollection and sifting the conscience of the witness, but of compelling him to stand face to face with the jury in order that they may look at him, and judge by his demeanor upon the stand and the manner in which he gives his testimony whether he is worthy of belief.

Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415 (1965) (quoting Mattox v. United States, 156 U.S. 237, 242 (1895)).

The admission of testimonial hearsay statements against an accused violate the Confrontation Clause if the declarant is unavailable to testify at trial, and the accused has had no prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 54. “[W]hen the declarant appears for cross-examination at trial, the Confrontation Clause places no constraints at all on the use of his prior testimonial statements.” Id. at 59 n.9. This Court made clear that the Confrontation Clause “guarantees only an opportunity for effective cross-examination not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.” Stokes, 381 S.C. 402, 673 S.E.2d at 439 (quoting United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 559 (1988)).

The trial court’s and the Court of Appeals’ reliance upon Stokes was misplaced, however. The witness against Stokes denied having made the written statement when he testified. In response, the prosecution moved to admit the statement pursuant to Rule 613, SCRE, which the judge allowed. Although the witness denied having made the statement, the witness remained on the witness stand and was subject to cross-examination, including cross-examination regarding the statement, by Stokes. Stokes, 381 S.C. at 399, 673 S.E.2d at 438. This case, then, is distinguishable from Stokes because Stokes had an opportunity to cross-examine the witness, but chose not to.

In this case, Petitioner did not have the opportunity to confront and cross-examine Gleaton as to the statements he made to law enforcement because Gleaton refused to cooperate. He refused to answer any questions about this incident, and was therefore not available for cross-examination. In fact, Gleaton was held in contempt of court for his failure to answer questions. The judge sentenced Gleaton to six months’ imprisonment for his refusal.

Given the dearth of evidence tending to show that Petitioner was guilty of this crime, including Hudson's initially informing law enforcement that someone else did it, the prejudice of allowing this statement into evidence was overwhelming. Additionally, the prosecutor's reliance upon Gleaton's statement as evidence of Petitioner's guilt demonstrated the harmful nature of the evidence. The state argued extensively that Gleaton's testimony proved Petitioner's guilt:

The murder of Ebony Fogle. Remember when he talked to his one friend, Mr. Gleaton, who didn't want to be here, who didn't want to get up in front of his friend and testify? You were allowed to listen to that testimony only because certain circumstances were met and the judge made that call, but what did he tell him? That he sprayed.

R. 1544, ll. 15-20. The state referenced the statement later in the closing argument. R. 1557, l. 23-

R. 1558, l. 9. And, yet again, in closing, the prosecution relied upon Gleaton's statement:

Torrian Gleaton, the defendant's friend. He also knows E. He spoke to both of them. He was up front about that. Bump told him about the robbery, said he was looking for E., even tried to remember getting him to go and find out where E. lived or show him. Told him about the shooting. He sprayed the yard.