STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

James R. Barber III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 2013-UP-147 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 10, 2013), Appellate Case No. 2013-001372

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY HACKSHAW,

PETITIONER.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRENDAN J. McDONALD  
Assistant Attorney General

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

South Carolina Office of Attorney General

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. Both the Court of Appeals and the Trial Court Correctly Concluded Petitioner's Confrontation Rights were not Violated by the Admission of Extrinsic Evidence of Gleaton's Prior Statement since Gleaton was Determined to be Available for Cross-Examination, was Subject to Cross-Examination on two Occasions and was Called as a Defense Witness Meaning Petitioner, consistent with both *Nance* and *Stokes*, had an Opportunity to Confront Gleaton

As detailed above, Petitioner, via his brief, maintained he was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to confront the witnesses against him when Gleaton, during direct examination, stopped cooperating, which Petitioner contends rendered him unavailable for cross-examination. Specifically, Petitioner seeks to distinguish this case from State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 673 S.E.2d 434 (2009) on the basis that Gleaton, unlike the witness from Stokes, was unavailable for cross-examination which he believes, results in a violation of his Confrontation Clause rights. The State disagrees because, as noted by the Court of Appeals, Gleaton was available to testify, was called as a witness, was twice subject to cross-examination and was even called as a defense witness. Accordingly, as demonstrated below, Petitioner's Confrontation

Rights were not violated since the record clearly reflects Petitioner was available for cross-examination.

A. Presentation of the Issue

Torrian Gleaton was primarily called to the stand to testify regarding his conversations with Petitioner after the shooting at Hudson's residence when, after acknowledging his past criminal record, pending charges and potential for receiving a downward departure, he elected to stop cooperating. (R. pp. 758-61). Specifically, Gleaton refused to cooperate because, "he fears for his safety and the safety of his family." (R. pp. 814-15). Gleaton's attorney later engaged in a more robust discussion of Gleaton's refusal to testify stating:

[H]e has told me that he does not want to cooperate and I think it would be inappropriate to say it in front of a jury, but he feels like it will endanger his life and the life of his or the welfare of his family. He has actually discussed this with members of his family, and there are members of his family that even afraid if he were to come in here today and testify against this particular man. *Even though this particular person could not harm him, he believes that this person could direct others to harm him, and he refuses to do anything to assist in the prosecution of him.*

(R. p. 849). (emphasis added).

After it became evident Gleaton would refuse to testify, defense counsel objected to the admission of extrinsic evidence of Gleaton's statement on Confrontation Clause grounds. (R. pp. 849-50). Arguing for the admission of the statement, the State likened the situation to a similar situation in Stokes stating:

[The State] called the defendant's uncle to the stand to testify. They questioned—the State asked him whether or not he made a statement to the police on November 26th of 2003 after he was taken to the hospital. He denied making the statement.

Your Honor, the State was then allowed to introduce extrinsic evidence of the prior inconsistent statement. Defense counsel argued under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)] that they were denied effective cross-examination of him. However, the South Carolina Supreme Court held, based on

Crawford, that they were not denied the protections that Crawford affords the defendant. Because the declarant was therefore cross-examin[ed] at trial, the confrontation clause places no constraints at all on the use of prior testimonial statements. And they further went on to say that the confrontation clause does not bar admission of the statement so long as the declarant is present at trial to defend or to explain it.

Your Honor, the Court went on to emphasize that it's the opportunity to cross-examine that is constitutionally protected and that in the incident case, Your Honor, we would argue the defense will have that opportunity to cross-examine the witness. He is here. He is on the stand available for cross-examination, Your Honor, and it is the opportunity to cross-examine, not the effectiveness or the—or any other thing that Crawford protects.

Therefore, Your Honor, the statement would—our position is that the prior inconsistent statement would not be hearsay as defined under—I think it's 801(d)(1), Your Honor.

(R. p. 842). The trial court acknowledged that it was familiar with Stokes.

Defense counsel then responded to the State's argument, first citing to State v. Mitchell, 378 S.C. 305, 662 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2008) before explaining the present situation was more like Crawford with the exception that the marital privilege did not render Gleaton unavailable as the witness was in Crawford. (R. pp. 843-44). Nevertheless, defense counsel continued to argue Crawford prohibited the admission of Gleaton's previous statement. (R. p. 844).

The trial court reviewed Crawford before ruling, stating "I'm going to allow you to proceed and we'll see what he does, and we'll see if you can lay a foundation. And if you do that, the way I read this case, they can offer extrinsic evidence at some point in time in the future." (R. p. 844). Defense counsel reiterated her objection. (R. p. 844). The trial court then explained his understanding of Stokes stating, "[t]he way I read that case is if this fellow is available—and in reading other cases if, in fact, he says 'I don't remember,' I think the law is the Court can interpret whether he is—even if he doesn't answer is that amounts to a denial." (R. p. 845).

After further discussion on the matter, defense counsel renewed her Confrontation Clause objection once again. (R. p. 853). The trial court, relying on Stokes, then ruled that Gleaton denied the statement, was available for cross-examination and noted the statement could be admitted through extrinsic evidence. (R. p. 854). Defense counsel then asked the trial court to review Mitchell before making a final ruling on its Confrontation Clause objection. (R. pp. 854-55). The trial court agreed to review Mitchell and in the meantime, the State presented another witness. (R. p. 855).

At the conclusion of the next witness, the trial court issued its ruling regarding Gleaton's prior statement finding, "[o]kay[,] I have read Mitchell and I have not changed my opinion after reading Mitchell." (R. p. 885). The trial court then distinguished Mitchell from Petitioner's case stating:

Mitchell—clearly there was a difference in the facts, the availability of that witness. They were removed from the courthouse. Nobody had an opportunity to talk to that witness, question him. You know, we gave you as much opportunity as we could under the facts and circumstances in this case, so I don't believe based on Stokes that—I believe Stokes is controlling in this instance, and I'm going to allow the extrinsic evidence to come in if that's what the State intends to do at some point in time.

(R. p. 885). The parties further agreed to make arrangements for additional cross-examination of Gleaton. (R. pp. 885-86). After testimony was presented from other witnesses, defense counsel attempted to "re-address" the ruling. (R. p. 938). The trial court informed defense counsel the ruling was final prompting defense counsel to pass up a memorandum of law, which the trial court subsequently reviewed and again, denied. (R. pp. 939, 943-44). Defense counsel then noted unavailability was never argued in Stokes. (R. p. 944).

B. Law Regarding one's Right to Confrontation

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. Amend. VI. Accordingly, the Supreme Court of the United States has generally determined the introduction of testimonial hearsay violates the Confrontation Clause if: (1) the witness is unavailable, and (2) the defendant has not had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004). Yet where the declarant appears for cross-examination at trial, the Confrontation Clause places no constraints on the use of his prior testimonial statements. Id. at 59 n. 9. Indeed, “[t]he Clause does not bar admission of a statement so long as the declarant is present at trial to defend or explain it.” Id. “[W]here the declarant is not absent, but is present to testify and to submit to cross-examination, our cases, if anything, support the conclusion that the admission of his out-of-court statements does not create a confrontation problem.” California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 162 (1970).

With respect to cross-examination specifically, the Confrontation Clause “guarantees only an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.” U.S. v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 559 (1988) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Indeed, an opponent’s opportunity for cross-examination can be considered the “main and essential purpose of confrontation.” Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 19–20 (1985) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); see also Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 739 (1987) (explaining the Confrontation Clause’s “functional purpose” as “ensuring a defendant an opportunity for cross-examination”). Thus, it is the opportunity to cross-examine, rather than effective cross-examination that is constitutionally protected by the Confrontation Clause. Stokes, 381 S.C. at 402, 673 S.E.2d at 440 (2009); State v. Nance, 393 S.C. 289, 294, 712 S.E.2d 446, 449 (2011).

Additionally, despite the general rule from Crawford prohibiting the introduction of unfronted testimonial hearsay, the Crawford Court simultaneously recognized a limited exception to this rule writing that “a defendant, by his own ‘wrongdoing,’ can forfeit ‘on essentially equitable grounds’ his Confrontation Clause right.” Id., at 62. This proposition, known as the “forfeiture by wrongdoing exception,” was reiterated in Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813 (2006), where the Court again recognized that “one who obtains the absence of a witness by wrongdoing forfeits the constitutional right to confrontation.” Id., at 833.

Most recently, this common law-based Confrontation Clause exception was acknowledged in Giles v. California, 554 U.S. 353 (2008) where the Supreme Court of the United States gave a detailed historical account of the “forfeiture by wrongdoing” exception and its common law origins. Id. at 358-59. Specifically, the Giles Court, reaching back to the Confrontation Clauses’ common law underpinnings, explained forfeiture by wrongdoing permitted the introduction of unfronted testimonial statements of a witness who was “detained” or “kept away” by the “means or procurement” of the defendant or his associates. Id. at 359. Summarizing the meaning of the “forfeiture by wrongdoing” exception, the Giles Court stated, “the scope of the forfeiture rule suggest[s] that the exception applied only when the defendant engaged in conduct *designed* to prevent the witness from testifying” or where the defendant “uses an intermediary for the purpose of making a witness absent.” Id. at 360.

In addition to the Supreme Court of the United States recognition that, as a matter of equity, one’s intentional wrongdoing may result in the relinquishment of a constitutional right, the Federal Rules of Evidence, in 1997, adopted this limitation as it related to findings of unavailability. Davis, 547 U.S. at 833. Specifically, Federal Rules of Evidence Rule 804(b)(6), “codifies the forfeiture doctrine” from these cases. Id. South Carolina also recognizes the

“forfeiture by wrongdoing” rule in South Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 804(a). Specifically, the rule states:

A declarant is not unavailable as a witness if exemption, refusal, claim of lack of memory, inability, or absence is due to the procurement or wrongdoing of the proponent of a statement for the purpose of preventing the witness from attending or testifying.

Rule 804(a), SCRE.

C. There is No Confrontation Clause Violation

Petitioner appears to agree the Confrontation Clause allows for only the opportunity to cross-examine, but argues that because Gleaton refused to cooperate, he was unavailable, and therefore Petitioner did not have the opportunity to cross-examine the witness thereby violating his Right to Confrontation under Crawford. Quite simply, this is incorrect.

First, Petitioner’s contention that Gleaton was unavailable for cross-examination is simply wrong. In fact, defense counsel never formally requested the trial court make a finding of unavailability under any of the provisions of Rule 804(a), SCRE. See Rule 804(a), SCRE (explaining the ways in which one may found to be unavailable under the Rule). Instead, defense counsel, in arguing that Stokes did not apply, generally stated that Gleaton’s refusal to further cooperate rendered him unavailable without any supporting authority—an argument which the trial court overruled multiple times. (R.pp. 854, 885, 939, 943-44, 1479-1480).

Moreover, the trial court’s factual determination that Gleaton was available for cross-examination was correct since Gleaton was called as a witness; was cross-examined; was subsequently recalled for additional cross-examination and was then called as a defense witness. Thus, since the trial court, after reviewing Stokes, determined that Gleaton, like the witness in Stokes, was in fact available for cross-examination and therefore, consistent with Stokes, admitted Gleaton’s testimony, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. Rather, the trial court

correctly applied the Stokes Court's reasoning that where the witness testifies at trial, the Confrontation Clause only protects "the opportunity to cross-examine, rather than effective cross-examination." Stokes, 381 S.C. at 402, 673 S.E.2d at 440; Nance, 393 S.C. at 294, 712 S.E.2d at 449. In light of these facts, the State submits Petitioner's argument lacks merit.

Furthermore, even if defense counsel had asked the trial court to make a formal determination of unavailability under the provisions of Rule 804(a), SCRE, the trial court, consistent with Rule 804(a), SCRE's prohibition on the use of wrongdoing to support a finding of unavailability, would have denied such a request. See Rule 804(a), SCRE ("A declarant is not unavailable as a witness if exemption, refusal, claim of lack of memory, inability, or absence is due to the procurement or wrongdoing of the proponent of a statement for the purpose of preventing the witness from attending or testifying."). Indeed, Petitioner's misconduct in intimidating Gleaton off the witness stand and into a six-month contempt sentence bars a finding of unavailability under Rule 804(a), SCRE. (R. pp. 844-45, 849). Therefore, Petitioner's Confrontation Rights were not violated, since the trial court, consistent with Rule 804(a), SCRE's prohibition on unavailability by wrongdoing, correctly determined Gleaton was available for cross-examination. See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68 ("The [Confrontation] Clause does not bar admission of a statement so long as the declarant is present at trial to defend or explain it.").

Finally, even if this court were to find that Gleaton was unavailable, Gleaton's attorney's statement that both Gleaton and members of his family believed Petitioner could order others to harm them is susceptible to an inference which would take this case out of the general rule of Crawford and into the forfeiture by wrongdoing exception. As discussed above, the Supreme Court of the United States, in Giles, elaborated on the requirements of the forfeiture by

wrongdoing exception, overruling a California version of the exception which allowed for the admission of an unfronted testimonial statement where the defendant committed wrongdoing in generally rendering the victim unavailable. Giles, 554 U.S. at 365. The Giles Court did so on the basis that the California version of the exception was not an established exception under common law at the time the Sixth Amendment was written. Giles, 554 U.S. at 365. In so finding, the Giles Court wrote that the common law wrongful forfeiture exception applied only where there was “a showing<sup>7</sup> that the defendant intended to prevent a witness from testifying.” Id. at 361.

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